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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA 

MIDDLE DIVISION 
 

          ) 
       ) 
WENDELL F. GILLEY, an  ) 
individual and as representative  ) 
participant of the Plan,   ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) CIVIL ACTION NO. 

v.      ) 
      ) CV-04- CLS-0562-M 
MONSANTO COMPANY, INC.,  ) 
et. al.      ) 
      ) 
   Defendants.  ) 
      ) 

 
PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS’ SECOND MOTION  

 
FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 
 

This is the second motion for summary judgment filed in the present action 

by defendants.1  The issues, the law and the facts are clear.  Defendants are 

operating the Monsanto Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan, the “Plan” an alleged 

qualified defined pension plan, as a de facto top-hat plan in the interest of officers, 

shareholders, and other highly compensated employees “HCEs” i.e. the sponsor’s 

profit interest by purposely interfering with non-HCEs’ obtainment of benefits.   

                                                 
1 Defendants also filed a motion to dismiss here and a motion to dismiss in Heptinstall v. 
Monsanto arguing the same legal issues.  
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Plaintiff, Wendell F. Gilley “Gilley”, a participant of the Plan and a non-HCE was 

purposely denied his property entrusted to defendants care.  This motion for 

summary judgment is due to be denied in its entirety as was defendants’ first 

motion and Plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment is due to be granted.  [R 76].  

PLAINTIFF’S REBUTTAL TO DEFENDANTS’ ALLEGED FACTS 

1. Admit.  Monsanto Company, Inc. “Monsanto” classified traditional 

nonexempt employees, “hourly workers” by the Fair Labor Standards Act “FLSA”, 

as salaried workers.  [R 101 at 19:L 21 to 20:L 22].  Nonexempt production level 

employees’ worked a rotating shift schedule at the Sand Mountain plant that 

incorporated mandatory overtime in their regular salary.  [R 167-4 at ¶¶ 10-15].  

Nonexempt employees were paid separately for overtime not included in their 

regular work schedule.  [R 101 at 19:L22 to 20:L22]. 

2. Admit in part and deny in part.  Plaintiff, Wendell F. Gilley, “Gilley” 

worked at the Sand Mountain plant in Marshall County, Alabama from his first day 

of employment, which he recalls as being August 30, 1972,2 until his last day of 

active work at the Sand Mountain plant on March 31, 1981, at which time he was 

placed on “layoff” status. [R 168-22; R 101 at 97:L2-9; 105:L13-5].   

3. Admit in part and deny in part.  The Sand Mountain plant produced 

polyester and nylon when Gilley started in August 1972.  [R 101 at 184:L17-20].   

                                                 
2 While a point of integrity, it is irrelevant to Plaintiff’s claims whether his first day of 
employment was August 30 or 31, 1972. 
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Monsanto made the decision to close the Sand Mountain plant and another plant in 

Fayetteville, North Carolina to prevent nonexempt employees from becoming 

vested and to divest other nonexempt employees of their nonforfeitable accrued 

benefit.3  [R 167-169; 174 ¶¶ 103-07, 129-133; R 101 at 343: L 16 to L 18; R 101 

at 353:L 13 to 354: L 2]. 

4. Admit.  Gilley was placed on “layoff” status on March 31, 1981.  [R 101 at 

105:L 13-15; 167-28; 167-29].   

5. Deny.  Gilley’s adjusted termination date was 9-27-1982.  [R 167-28; 167-

29]. 

The 1976 Plan Is The Governing Plan.  ERISA § 203; IRC § 411. 

6. Deny.  The effective date of the Monsanto Salaried Employe(e)s’ Pension 

Plan, the “Plan”, is December 30, 1940.  [R 168-11 at MON 003235 § 11].  The 

Plan was amended from time to time as to certain covered groups of employe(e)s 

and set forth in separate documents as separate plans, the 1951 plan, the 1956 plan, 

the 1961 plan, the 1971 plan, the 1976 plan.4 [R167-20]. 

7. Deny.   A participant’s rights and benefits are determined by the Employee 

Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (ERISA), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1001 

                                                 
3 Defendants are divesting non-HCE participants of their nonforfeitable accrued benefit by 
revisiting eligibility when non-HCE participants apply for their property held in trust.  [R 101 at 
343: L 16 to L 18; R 101 at 353:L 13 to 354: L 2]. 
4 Monsanto has always operated the plan as a top-hat plan for HCEs by preventing non-HCEs 
from obtaining their rightful benefits based on the fact that the plan was amended from time to 
time to exclude certain covered groups before the enactment of ERISA. 
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et. seq. and the plan document.  The plan controls only if the plan is being operated 

as a qualified plan in accordance with ERISA and Internal Revenue Code “IRC” 

mandates.  29 U.S.C. §§ 1001 et. seq; 26 U.S.C. §§ 401 et seq. 

8. Deny.   ERISA determines when an amendment to a plan is applicable to a 

participant’s rights and benefits depending on the date of adoption and the 

effective date.  ERISA §§ 101-4, 203, 204, 302(c)(8), 404, 409, 510; see also IRC 

§ 411(d)(6), 26 U.S.C. § 411(d)(6) and § 412(c)(8).    

9. Deny.  ERISA and the IRC mandate that an amendment that modifies and 

changes the vesting schedule of a qualified plan is not applicable to a 

determination of the rights and benefits of participants with significant service at 

the time the amendment is adopted and is made effective.  Id.  The Governing Plan 

is the 1976 Plan, not the 1981 Plan adopted in 1982 and made retroactively 

effective to January 1, 1981. Id; see also Exhibit A “Exh.” Pltff’s Exh. 5 Hearing 

August 2005 Section 6.  

10. Deny.  The 1976 Plan, effective January 1, 1976, defines Gilley’s “Vesting 

Service” according to Section 18.1. [R 167-18; 167-20].  A participant of the 1976 

Plan is entitled to a year of credited service for a plan year, or calendar year, during 

which he completes at least “1,000 Hours of Service” as defined by Section 18.5.  

Id; [R 167-18].  
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11. Deny.  The 1981 Plan, adopted in 1982, is not applicable to a determination 

of Gilley’s credited service. [R 167, 168, 169, 174].  If the terms of the 1981 Plan, 

adopted in 1982, are applied to a determination of Gilley’s credited service causing 

forfeiture of his nonforfeitable accrued benefit it disqualifies the Plan as an ERISA 

and IRC qualified plan because Gilley was entitled to 100 percent of his 

nonforfeitable accrued benefit under the 1976 Plan prior to the 1981 Plan being 

adopted and prior to its effective date.   [R 167-24 § 8; 167-28; 167-29]; see also 

ERISA §§ 101-4, 203, 204, 302, 404, 409, 510, and 511; see also parallel IRC §§ 

411(d)(6) etc. 

12. Deny.  On or about January 31, 2001, Gilley spoke with Fidelity a 

representative of defendant Pharmacia/Monsanto; he had previously spoken with 

someone in the benefit center at the Decatur plant.  [R 168-3; 169-18 at 145: L 8 to 

146: L 24; First Amend. ¶ 38].    

13. Deny.  Gilley received a letter dated April 2001 that states “there are no 

benefits due to you from the Monsanto Company Pension Plan at this time.” [R 

168-2; 168-3 at MON 003632]. 

14. Deny. After Fidelity received a final benefit determination from 

Monsanto/Pharmacia on June 20, 2003, Fidelity notified Gilley by letter dated June 

24, 2003 of Monsanto’s determination.  [R 168-3 at MON 003633-4].  Gilley filed 

an administrative appeal in November 2003.  [R 168-3; 168-8]. 
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15. Deny in part and admit in part.  The Committee, based on the plan 

administrator’s recommendation, denied the administrative appeal and Gilley was 

notified of the decision by letter.  [R 168-9].   

16. Deny.  The Committee and all defendants are charged with knowing the law 

especially the requirements for operating a qualified pension plan under ERISA 

and IRC mandates.  Accordingly, defendants knew the 1976 Plan and its vesting 

schedule, the “1000 Hour of Service Rule,” were applicable to a determination of 

Gilley’s credited service and not the 1981 Plan adopted in 1982.  [R 168-8 at MON 

003800]; ERISA §§ 203, 302(c)(8).  Moreover, defendants were in possession of 

records showing an adjusted termination date that reflected Gilley and others were 

vested under the 1976 Plan.  [R 167-29; 167-29; 169-4; 169-5].  Nevertheless, the 

Committee accepted the plan administrator’s decision and recommendation and 

determined Gilley’s credited service under the 1981 Plan.5  [R 168-9].   

17. Deny.   The “elapsed time” method was never applicable to a determination 

of credited service under any plan during Gilley’s employment.  [R 167-18].  

Under the 1971 Plan, which preceded and was superseded by the 1976 Plan, 

Monsanto determined credited service based on the “continuous service” method.  

                                                 
5 By selectively denying certain participants based on “demographics” defendants hoped to 
establish controlling precedent to deny all nonexempt employees who were separated with a 
deferred vested benefit who Monsanto failed to report on Schedule SSA.  ERISA § 511. 
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[R 167-17]. The “elapsed time” method was finalized as 26 C.F.R. § 1.410(a)-7 on 

June 16, 1980.  26 C.F.R. § 1.410(a)-7.  

18. Deny.   Plaintiff’s counsel requested the benefits and pension plan manuals 

that reflected changes made around 1976, the latest plan documents relevant to 

Plaintiff’s claim for accrued benefit. [R 168-6]. The plan administrator, concealing 

the existence of the 1976 Plan, provided a conformed copy containing the 95 Hour 

Rule representing the document as the actual 1976 Plan. [R 168-7]; ERISA § 511.  

Defendants knew the 1981 Plan, adopted in 1982 after Gilley’s termination, was 

inapplicable to a determination of Gilley’s credited service.  [R167-24].   

19. Deny.  The plan administrator identified the plan document as “the 

Monsanto Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan 1976” not as a conformed copy.  

ERISA § 511; [R168-7]. 

Plaintiff’s Additional Undisputed Facts In Opposition  

20. Plaintiff hereby incorporates all Undisputed Facts and Law as fully set out in 

Plaintiff’s Status Report and Motion for Summary Judgment and Brief In Support 

Of Summary Judgment as if they were cited herein with full force in opposition to 

Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment.  [R 160, 167-9, 174].  

21. ERISA requires qualified plans to cover a wide range of employees, both 

non-HCEs and HCEs.  ERISA 410(b)(1); see also [R 168-11 at Internal Revenue 

Service “IRS” Publication “Pub” 794]. 
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22. The trust is not a qualified trust unless the plan of which such trust is a part 

is operated in such a way as to not discriminate in favor of HCEs in contributions 

and benefits.  IRC §§ 401, 401(4), 401(7), 414(q).  

23. The trust is not a qualified trust unless the plan of which such trust is a part 

covers a wide range of employees, both non-HCEs and HCE.  IRC § 410(b); [R 

168-11 § 16].  

24. Monsanto classifies traditional nonexempt employees, “hourly workers”, as 

salaried workers to qualify the Monsanto Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan, a 

defined benefit plan, as a tax favored plan. [R 168-11 at MON 003236; R 101 at 

19:L 21 to 20:L 22; R 101 at 262:L 22 to 263:L10]; IRC § 401(26) and § 410(b).  

25. The 1976 Plan was in place when the Sand Mountain plant closed.  [R 167-

21; 167-22; 167-24; 167-26 (no amendments were reported on annual returns for 

the 1976 Plan that required SPDs to be furnished to the Department of Labor 

“DOL” and participants until 1982)]; ERISA §§ 101, 102, and 104; [R 101 at 

44:L14 to 47:L2. 

26. Monsanto in 1981 adjusted participants’ termination date to reflect a full 

year of credited service for calendar year 1972, ten years of credited service 

overall, to reflect entitlement to a separated deferred vested benefit.  [R 167-28; 

167- 29; 169-4; 169- 5]. 
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27. Records maintained by Monsanto show Gilley with an adjusted termination 

date of 9-27-1982.  [R 167-28; 167-29]. 

28. Records maintained by Monsanto show Robert Heptinstall, another 

nonexempt employee who also started in August 1972 who worked continuously 

until the plant closed, with an adjusted termination date of 11-01-1982.  [R 169-4; 

169-5].  

29. First line supervisors at the Sand Mountain plant, team leaders, were 

responsible for explaining benefits to their employees.  [R 101 at 40:L9-16]. 

30. Mr. Johnny Boozer, Gilley’s team leader, testified he had never heard of the 

95-Hour Rule until the hearing in 2005.  [R 101 at 42:L9-10]. 

31. Other participants entitled to a separated deferred vested benefit have never 

heard of or seen the 1981 SPD.  [R 167-4; 167-5; 167-6].  

32. Monsanto’s Board of Directors made the decision to close the Sand 

Mountain plant and another plant while simultaneously approving in principal the 

amendment of the Monsanto Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan as the “1981 

Plan”.6  [R 168-19].   

33. Monsanto closed the Sand Mountain plant approximately nine years after 

production began.  [R 101 at 41:L1-25].    

                                                 
6 Approving the amendment of the Plan in principle is only the first step in a multi-step process 
for formally amending the Plan; a process that can take more than a year. [R 174]. 
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34. By closing two plants Monsanto caused forfeiture of non-HCE participants’ 

accruing benefits and by revisiting eligibility and by operating the plan in a 

discriminatory manner caused subsequent forfeiture of accrued benefits belonging 

to other non-HCEs including Gilley.  [R 169-6, 169-7, 169-8].   

35. On the plan’s annual return for the plan years 1980, 1981, and 1982 

Monsanto’s plan administrator reported only 764 separated participants entitled to 

a deferred vested benefit of approximately 27,000 plus participants.  [R 167-23; 

167-25; 167-27].   

36. At peak production the Sand Mountain plant employed approximately 1,200 

employees, when the plant closed there were at least 660 employees (non-HCE 

participants) at the plant.  [R 169-6 and 169-8]. 

37. The plan administrator reported only 28 Sand Mountain exempt team leaders 

as being participants’ entitled to a deferred vested benefit.  [R 169-7].   

38. The 1976 SPD states “forfeitures are applied to reduce future Company 

contributions”.    [R 167-18 at p. 39]. 

39. “A trust forming part of a defined benefit plan shall not constitute a qualified 

trust under this section unless the plan provides that forfeitures must not be applied 

to increase the benefits any employee would otherwise receive under the plan.”  

IRC § 401(8)(emphasis added). 
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40. Under the 1981 Plan pension benefits for people who retired before 

December 1, 1980, were increased and the formula used to determine pensions for 

future retirees was changed to provide higher benefits.  [R 168-24]; IRC § 401(8). 

41. The plan administrator did not report at least 80 nonexempt employees, non-

HCE participants from the Sand Mountain plant, that were known to be entitled 

to a separated deferred vested benefit under either the 1976 or the 1981 vesting 

schedule on Form 5500 Schedule SSA for 1980, 1981, or 1982.  [R 167-5; 167-6; 

167-7; 169-6].  

42. By intentionally taking action to cause forfeiture of accruing and accrued 

benefits of non-HCE participants Monsanto can reduce future contributions and 

increase benefits paid to officers and other highly compensated employees 

“HCEs”.  [R 168-19; 169-6; 169-8]; see also IRC § 401(10) and IRC § 416 

(Special vesting requirements and benefit formulas for Top-Heavy Plans).  

43. The 1981 Plan was adopted in 1982 and made retroactive by the plan 

administrator to January 1, 1981.  [R 167-24 at § 8 MON 002618; R 172]. 

44. In addition to the 80 or so nonexempt employees (vested under either the 

1976 and/or the 1981 schedule) who were known to be separated deferred 

participants’ with a vested benefit who were not reported, there were at least 

580 other nonexempt employees, non-HCE participants, working at the Sand 

Mountain plant when it closed who’s accruing benefit was forfeited by virtue of 
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being prevented from becoming vested or who’s nonforfeitable accrued benefit has 

been or will be forfeited by virtue of the plan administrator revisiting eligibility.7  

[compare R 169-6 and R 169-9 to R 167-23; 167- 25; 167- 27; see also 169-7]; see 

also IRC § 401(10) and IRC § 416 (Special vesting requirements and benefit 

formulas for Top-Heavy Plans).   

45. Officers, shareholders, and other highly compensated employees (the plan 

sponsors) who have an interest in the trust face substantial tax liability if the plan 

of which the trust is a part fails to meet ERISA and IRC standards resulting from 

the operation of the plan in a discriminatory manner in favor of HCEs.  IRC § 

402(b).  

ARGUMENT 

Plaintiff, as an individual is entitled to relief under ERISA § 502(a)(3) and 

the Plan represented by Plaintiff is entitled to relief under ERISA § 502(a)(2), for 

estoppel, intentional interference with protected rights and discrimination in 

violation of ERISA § 510, for breach of the fiduciary duties listed in ERISA § 404 

under ERISA § 409, and for defendants’ flagrant violation of ERISA §§ 101-4, 

203, 204, 302, 502, 510.  See ERISA §§ 101-4, 203, 204, 302, 404, 409, 502, 510, 

511 and parallel IRC Sections.  Defendants have engaged in extended litigation 

                                                 
7 Because defendants have refused discovery and records have been destroyed it is impossible to 
determine exactly how many of these participants were vested and entitled to a nonforfeitable 
accrued benefit and how many participants were prevented from becoming vested. 
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based on fraud and misrepresentation for the sole purpose of foreclosing 

participants’ rights.  ERISA §§ 404, 409, 510, and 511.  Defendants have 

attempted, through the use of the judicial principle of defensive collateral estoppel, 

to acquire a decision such as the Eleventh Circuit’s to secure future or conceal past 

forfeiture of nonforfeitable accrued benefits in the interest of shareholders, 

officers, and other highly compensated employees (the sponsor’s profit interest).  

Parklane Hosiery Co., Inc. v. Shore, 439 U.S. 322 (1979); see also [R 160; 167; 

168; 169].  ERISA, as an equitable doctrine, should not be used as a tool for theft 

of property by fraud.  ERISA § 511.   

1. Response To Defendants’ Argument That Count One and Count Five 
Are Foreclosed By Gilley v. Monsanto. 

 
The Eleventh Circuit’s decision in Gilley v. Monsanto turned entirely on 

defendants’ misrepresentations regarding the timing of the 1981 amendment and 

the applicability of Buckley v. Metropolitan Life, 115 F.3d 936 (11th Cir. 1997).  

Gilley v. Monsanto, 490 F.3d. 848 (11th Cir. 2007).  [R 160].  Defendants have not 

denied they misrepresented the facts and the law to the Eleventh Circuit.   

Gilley was in fact vested under the 1976 Plan when the 1981 Plan was 

adopted in 1982 and made retroactively effective to January 1, 1981. [R 167-169; 

R 174].  ERISA § 302(c)(8) and IRC § 412(c)(8) permit plan amendments adopted 

after the close of a plan year to be retroactively applied to the first of the plan year 

but if and only if the amendment does not reduce any participants’ accrued 
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benefit determined as of the beginning of the first day of the plan year to which the 

amendment applies AND does not reduce the accrued benefit of any participant 

determined as of the time of the adoption of the amendment.  ERISA § 302(c)(8); 

IRC § 412(c)(8); ERISA 204(g); see also [R 167-24 § 8].  Amendments under 

ERISA Section 302(c)(8) must be approved by the Secretary.  Id.  In 1981 the plan 

administrator, because it was essential to obtaining approval for the 1981 

amendment, had to assure the Secretary and declare under oath that no 

participants’ accrued benefit would be reduced by the amendment.  ERISA §§ 

204(g), 302(c)(8); IRC § 412(c)(8); [R 167-24 § 8].  The amendment would not 

have been approved under any other circumstances.  ERISA § 302(c)(8); IRC § 

412(c)(8).  To ensure approval of the amendment defendants had to adjust 

participants’ termination dates to reflect their vested status if their termination date 

overlapped the effective date of the 1981 Plan.  [R 167-28; 167-29; 169-4; 169-5].   

Once approval of the amendment was granted, however, defendants failed to 

report Gilley and other nonexempt participants with a known separated deferred 

vested benefit on the plan’s annual returns permitting present day defendants to 

revisit eligibility when participants apply for benefits.    [R 167-23; 167-25; 167-

27; R 169-6].  When Gilley applied for benefits the plan administrator ignoring 

company termination records revisited eligibility and determined his credited 
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service under the 1981 Plan amendment without mention of the 1976 Plan.  [R 

169-6; 167-21 through 167-29].   

2. Litigation 

Through carefully planned litigation defendants can operate the Plan as a de 

facto top-hat plan for HCEs with all the perks of a qualified plan in the interest of 

shareholders, officers, and other highly compensated employees.  ERISA §§ 510- 

511.  Certain participants’ who were never reported as being entitled to a deferred 

vested benefit can be carefully selected based on “demographics” to establish 

precedent to secure and/or conceal forfeiture of vested accrued benefit belonging to 

other unreported non-HCE participants’ thereby machinating an end-run around 

ERISA’s statutory requirement for qualified plans.  [R 101 at 343: L 16 to L 18; R 

101 at 353:L 13 to 354: L 2].  Gilley was one of those participants who went 

unreported who was carefully selected to establish precedent to conceal and/or 

secure forfeiture. 

Defendants after limiting the issue tried in the hearing of August 2005 

appealed under Rule 54(b).  [R 78, 79, 80, 94, 115-117, 120, 135].  On appeal 

defendants mischaracterized this action as nothing more than a discretionary claim 

for benefits under 502(a)(1)(B).  Exh. B Appellant’s Brief.  Members of the panel, 

failing to realize defendants’ substantial financial interest in the outcome of the 
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appeal,8 were persuaded by defendants’ plea for discretion and accepted their 

version of the facts and the law.  Id. at pp. 27-9; see Billings v. UNUM Life Insur. 

Co. of America, 459 F.3d 1088 (11th Cir. 2006).   

Plaintiff’s counsel realizing the importance of the issues raised here filed a 

second class action on behalf of other similarly situated participants while the 

appeal was pending.  See Heptinstall v. Monsanto CV 06-CLS-1564.  Defendants’ 

litigation strategy, however, would certainly fail if the class litigation went 

forward.  To stall Heptinstall v. Monsanto defendants filed the following in support 

of a motion to dismiss:    

Judge Propst’s opinion in Gilley was a limited one, which is now on 
appeal.  The order was based on a two-day hearing that was restricted 
to determining how many hours Wendell Gilley worked in 1972 – 
nothing more (Gilley, Doc. Nos. 79; 117).  It did not purport to 
resolve any other issue (including how the Committee should 
calculate service for any other participant, whether the plant was 
closed illegally, whether the amendment of the Plan violated ERISA, 
whether the Defendants engaged in any sort of improper 
discrimination, or even which defendants were properly before the 
Court). . . It can hardly be said that Defendants had a “full and fair 
opportunity” to litigate in Gilley the issues raised by these Plaintiffs.  
(emphasis added). 

 
[Heptinstall Record “HR” 23].   

                                                 
8 On appeal defendants urged deference relying on, Buckley v. Metropolitan Life, 115 F.3d 936, 
939-40 (11th Cir. 1997), a welfare benefit case brought under Section 502(a)(1)(B), insisting 
they had no financial interest  sufficient to cause a conflict of interest warranting a heightened 
arbitrary and capricious standard because benefits are paid from a trust.  App. Brief at pp. 26-7. 
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Defendants were successful in stalling the class litigation and in securing a 

favorable ruling based on their misrepresentations of the timing of the 1981 Plan 

and the law.  Now armed with a decision based on the very limited issue appealed, 

defendants seek to flip their stance once more to avoid litigation of the remaining 

issues here and the class litigation in Heptinstall v. Monsanto.  Defendants  

contend the limited hearing previously portrayed as being so unfair is now 

dispositive of all Gilley’s claims contained in the amended complaint.9  [R 172 at 

p. 9].  Regardless of defendants’ assertions to this and other courts, the 1981 Plan 

violates ERISA’s mandates because defendants are applying it to cause and/or 

conceal forfeiture of property entrusted to their care.  Like a house of cards 

everything falls when the foundation is disturbed. 

 
 
 
 
                                                 
9 In their request for a stay in Gilley v. Monsanto during appeal Defendants state:    

The trial revolved around the amount of plaintiff’s service in 1972 and the terms 
of the pension plan. In contrast, the remaining claims concern, among other 
things, what employees were told at the time of the plant shutdown in around 
1981 and whether the Sand Mountain facility was closed as part of a plan to deny 
pension benefits.  These issues concern different documents, different witness 
(sic) and different discovery. If the Court’s award of benefits under its previous 
order is affirmed, there may be no need to incur the expense and effort to litigate 
whether Plaintiff is entitled to benefits under one or more of these other theories.9   
 

[R 137]. Even though defendants acknowledge Plaintiff’s remaining claims will require 
additional evidence defendants have refused here and in Heptinstall v. Monsanto to produce 
additional evidence.  
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3. Response To Defendants’ Argument For Dismissal Of Count Two 
 

a. Representative Claim Under Section 502(a)(2)   

Defendants argue the Court should dismiss Plaintiff’s Section 502(a)(2) 

claim because there is no individual action under this section.  Plaintiff, as a 

representative participant on behalf of the plan, is not seeking individual relief 

under this section, but rather relief for the Plan.  One example of specific relief 

sought on behalf of the Plan is notice to the PBGC to perfect a lien on property to 

cover the sponsor’s failure to make contributions to the Plan to cover participants 

with a deferred vested benefit who went unreported by Monsanto’s plan 

administrator as required by ERISA and the IRC’s minimum funding standards.  

ERISA § 302 and IRC § 412.     

b. Response To Dismissal Of Equitable Estoppel. 
 
Defendants, ignoring the Section 510 intentional interference aspect of the 

claim, urge the Court to dismiss Count Two in its entirety.  Defendants insist 

dismissal of Plaintiff’s equitable estoppel claim is appropriate because equitable 

estoppel has never been raised in a pension case and because the formal plan 

document controls.  [R172 at pp. 12-3 citing Natchwalter v. Christie, 805 F.2d 956, 

960 (11th Cir. 1986)].  Plaintiff agrees the formal plan controls; the 1976 Plan or 
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rather the 1976 summary plan description “SPD” controls.10  [R 167-169; R 167-

18].  Defendants are estopped from applying the terms of any other plan.  

Generally because plan administrators have a fiduciary duty to act in the 

interest of plan participants plan administrators automatically provide, pursuant to 

26 C.F.R. § 1.401(a)(4)(11)(c), all employees employed on the date of the 

amendment with the higher of the nonforfeitable percentages determined 

under either the original or amended schedule to comply with  IRC 411(a)(10).  

26 C.F.R. § 1.401(a)(4)(11)(c)(example 2).  Based on any fair reading of ERISA 

and IRC mandates and the 1976 SPD this is exactly what Monsanto’s management 

did twenty seven years ago when they promised Gilley and others a deferred vested 

benefit because Gilley and others satisfied the service requirements of the 1976 

Plan entitling them to 100 percent of their employers’ contributions based on the 

plan in place when they went on layoff and when they were terminated.  ERISA § 

203; see also [R 167-18; 167-20; 167-28; 167-29].  Representations made to Gilley 

and others when the Sand Mountain plant closed were verifications of their vested 

status under the formal 1976 Plan prior to the adoption of the 1981 Plan in 1982.  

ERISA § 203; [R 101 at 89:L 2-13; see also R 167-6; 167-7; 167-9; 167-10; 168-

21; 168-30; 168-31].  Plaintiff and others testified they received a document 

                                                 
10 The representations made to Plaintiff and others are significant only because they are 
consistent with the terms of the controlling 1976 Plan.   
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regarding their vested status, however, understandably after twenty seven years 

they have been unable to locate the document.11  [R 101 at 194: L12 to L 15; see 

also R 167-4; 167-5].  Reasonably, the written commitments made to participants 

when the Sand Mountain plant was preparing to close were not representations 

made contrary to or in addition to the formal plan document, but rather were 

representations made in connection with the governing plan document, the 1976 

Plan, in which participants’ had a vested interest.  [R 167-28; 167-29; 169-4; 169-

5].   Management at the Sand Mountain plant knew, based on the amount of 

overtime incorporated into the rotating shift schedule, that anyone hired prior to 

September 1972 who worked the rotating shift would have 1000 hours of service 

entitling that person to a year of credited service for 1972 and adjusted their 

termination date to reflect their vested status (ten years of total service including 

one year for 1972).  [R 168-28; 168-29; 167- 18; R 169-4; 169-5].   The undisputed 

evidence properly before the Court makes it clear Plaintiff is vested and entitled to 

his nonforfeitable accrued benefit by virtue of the controlling formal plan, the 1976 

Plan as represented by the 1976 SPD.  Present day defendants are estopped from 

revisiting eligibility and applying the 1981 Plan and unwritten terms and 

conditions to deny benefits instead of the controlling 1976 Plan.  [R 167-16, 167-

                                                 
11 Possibly this type of document was located in the basement of the Decatur plant and destroyed 
along with all the other documents that were shredded. [R 170].  Defendants have relied upon the 
passage of time as an excuse for not being able to locate documentation to support Plaintiff’s 
claims while simultaneously altering and destroying documentation. Id. 
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24 § 8 MON 002618; 167-4 through 167-7; 167-9; 167-10; 167-28, 167-29; 169-4; 

169-5].   

c. Pension and Welfare Benefits  

As Plaintiff elucidated in his petition to the Supreme Court— welfare 

benefits and pension benefits differ in character and nature as reflected by ERISA 

and IRC’s vesting, participation, and minimum funding requirements.  [R 168-29; 

ERISA §§ 202, 203, 302; IRC §§ 410, 411, 412].  Welfare benefits, in which 

participants have no vested interest, are not subject to the same requirements under 

ERISA’s statutory framework.  Alday, 906 F.2d at 663.  By contrast pension 

benefits in which participants have a vested interest are the property of participants 

held in trust and merely managed by defendants until participants apply for their 

property.12   

d. Failure To Report Nonexempt Participants And Plan Funding 
 
Monsanto’s plan administrator after getting approval for the 1981 

amendment13 thereafter failed to report any nonexempt separated participants with 

a known deferred accrued benefit (participants fulfilling the service requirements 

of the 1976 vesting schedule and those clearly fulfilling the service requirements of 

the 1981 vesting schedule) causing unpredictability in future funding obligations.  
                                                 
12 Defendants to secure a favorable decision have relied heavily upon cases involving welfare 
benefit claims, such as Buckley v. Metropolitan, as if the concepts elucidated in these opinions 
apply with equal force to vested pension benefits in which participants have a property interest.  
13 Plaintiff assumes defendants gave notice and received approval for the 1981 Plan.  However, 
defendants have refused to produce discovery on the notice issue in Heptinstall v. Monsanto. 
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[R 169-3; R 169-6; R 174].   ERISA and the IRC’s mandatory reporting and 

disclosure rules ensures predictability in funding for defined pension plans to 

protect participants’ property interest in the plan.  ERISA §§ 101, 102, 104; see 

also [R 168-11 Pub. 794 Form 5500].  Because nonexempt participants entitled to 

a deferred vested benefit went unreported they were not considered in the plans’ 

yearly actuarial accounting causing the plan to become severely under-funded over 

time.  [R 167-24 MON 002667-70].  As a result of improper operation of the plan 

the plan no longer met the minimum funding standards as required by ERISA and 

IRC.  ERISA §§ 101, 102, 104.  [R 168-11 at Pub 794 MON 003224].  Defendants 

today facing the obligation to fund a severely under-funded trust took a series of 

steps with an eye towards limiting the sponsor’s present and future obligation to 

fund the trust including but not limited to revisiting eligibility of non-HCE 

participants who went unreported in the early 1980s.  [R 169-18 & 19; R 101 at 

258: L 4-56; R 101 at 345: L 10 to L 14 compare 168-11 at Pub. 794 regarding 

Form 5500].   

If defendants are successful in swaying this Court as they have others then 

the predictability that Congress urged for pensions will result in total chaos.  

Unscrupulous sponsors of defined benefit plans such as defendants will reap 

windfalls in retained vested benefits, property belonging to participants, from 

fraudulently managed plans.  The incentive to manage tax favored qualified plans 
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as de facto top-hat plans in the interest of privileged HCEs will be overwhelming 

especially in light of the fact that any breach under ERISA could be considered 

merely an efficient breach.   

4. Response To Defendants’ Argument Against Count Three. 

Defendants argue that Count Three raises an improper claim for statutory 

sanctions because ERISA does not obligate defendants to furnish anything other 

than “the latest updated summary plan description and the latest annual report . . . 

contract or other instrument under which the plan is established or is operated.” [R 

172 at pp. 14-15 citing 29 U.S.C. § 1024(b)(c)].  Plaintiff did not request a prior 

plan document—Plaintiff requested the 1976 governing Plan document the latest 

document in relation to Gilley’s claim for benefits.  [R 168-5 to 168-7; 167-28; 

167-29].   

Defendants have an obligation not to engage in fraud and deceit for the 

purpose of interfering with participants’ rights and benefits under ERISA.  ERISA 

§§ 510 and 511.  Defendants, in addition to not reporting nonexempt participants 

with a known deferred vested benefit that separated from the Sand Mountain plant, 

did not provide these nonexempt participants with annual reports and statements as 

required by ERISA.  ERISA § 104.  When these participants would apply for their 

benefits defendants, without giving a specific reason, would deny them their vested 

accrued benefit.  [R 168-2].  Defendants contend, however, that it was proper to 
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attempt to deceive Plaintiff and Plaintiff’s counsel and the Court by providing and 

filing a falsely identified document as the actual plan document as part of a 

scheme to defraud participants’ of their property.   ERISA Section 511 states:  

It shall be unlawful for any person through the use of fraud, force, 
violence, or threat of the use of force or violence, to restrain, coerce, 
intimidate, or attempt to restrain, coerce, or intimidate any participant 
or beneficiary for the purpose of interfering with or preventing the 
exercise of any right to which he is or may become entitled under the 
plan, this subchapter, section 1201 of this title, or the Welfare and 
Pension Plans Disclosure Act [29 U.S.C. 301 et seq.]. Any person 
who willfully violates this section shall be fined $10,000 or 
imprisoned for not more than one year, or both. 

 

29 U.S.C. § 1141.  

Defendants provided Plaintiff’s counsel during the administrative appeal a 

conformed copy of the plan document showing future amendments portraying it as 

the actual 1976 plan document to delude Plaintiff’s counsel into believing the 95 

Hour Rule was incorporated into the 1976 Plan.  [R 8; 168-5; 167-24 § 8].  When 

suit was filed defendants filed the same conformed copy along with their motion to 

dismiss.  [R 8].  When the ruse was discovered defendants acknowledged that the 

conformed copy was not the actual 1976 document, but continued to insist the 95 

Hour Rule was adopted in 1979 and Gilley’s action was nothing more than a claim 

for benefits.  [R 101 at 71:L 1 to 74:L 26; 159:L1 to 160:L 26].  Defendants 

requested a limited hearing and promptly appealed under Rule 54(b).  [R 78-80].   

As soon as the appeal was filed documents, proving misconduct on the part of 
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defendants and participants’ entitlement to assets, were destroyed.  [R 170]. 

Defendants’ by design have taken the litigation position that the 1981 Plan 

(adopted in 1982) is applicable to a determination of Gilley’s credited service to 

conceal and secure forfeiture of accrued benefits belonging to nonexempt 

participants in the sponsor’s profit interest.14  Whether defendants actions taken in 

furtherance of their fraudulent scheme to divest participants of their rightful 

property is a violation ERISA § 502(c), § 510, or § 511, is for the Court to decide.  

5. Response To Defendants’ Argument Against Count Four. 

Defendants argue that summary judgment is proper on Count Four, 

Plaintiff’s breach of fiduciary duty claim, because they professed a legitimate 

reason for closing the Sand Mountain plant, a decline in the polyester market.  

[R172 at pp. 17-21].  While Plaintiff’s claim for breach of fiduciary duty only 

mentions defendants’ closing of the Sand Mountain plant Plaintiff incorporated all 

other facts and argument by reference.  Additionally, Plaintiff has argued and 

presented evidence to substantiate Plaintiff’s claim for breach of fiduciary duty 

regarding the defendants operation of the Plan and violation of ERISA and IRC 

mandates.   Count Four encompasses liability for defendants’ misconduct arising 

from the administration of the plan that includes, but is not limited to, the closing 
                                                 
14 To obtain a favorable ruling from the court of appeals defendants through artful pleading 
misrepresented the 95 Hour Rule as being adopted prior to January 1, 1981.  ERISA §§ 203-4 
and IRC §§ 412(c)(8); App. Brief at pp. 32-34.  Defendants in their motion for summary 
judgment rely on the 1981 Plan.   
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of the plant, failing to report non-HCEs with a known deferred vested benefit, 

failing to provide nonexempt participants formerly employed at Sand Mountain 

with required disclosures and benefit information, applying a later adopted 

amendment retroactively to divest nonexempt participants of their accrued 

nonforfeitable benefit, failing to provide documentation necessary for participants’ 

obtainment of benefits and fraudulently concealing the existence of the 1976 Plan 

as part of a fraudulent scheme to divest nonexempt participants of their rightful 

property, etc.   It is undisputed defendants violated ERISA’s fiduciary standards in 

their operation of the plan and misrepresented the facts and the law to obtain a 

favorable ruling to secure forfeiture.  [R 160; R 167; R 174].   Plaintiff has now 

presented competent evidence that proves defendants violated their fiduciary duty 

to plan participants including Gilley.  [R 167-169; 174]. 

6. Response To Defendants’ Argument That The Committee Is The Only 
Proper Defendant.  
 

 Defendants argue here for the first time that the Committee is the only 

proper defendant.  While the Committee is the entity made up of corporate officers 

responsible for oversight of the plan’s administration, defendants, one and all, have 

exercised their discretionary authority and control in the administration, 

management, and distribution of assets of the plan.  Defendants, one and all, have 

breached their fiduciary duty to ALL participants by managing the plan in 

violation of ERISA and IRC’s mandates for qualified plans as a top-hat plan.  

Case 4:04-cv-00562-CLS-HGD     Document 179      Filed 04/18/2008     Page 29 of 32



 27

Defendants one and all are culpable.  Varity Corp. v. Howe, 516 U.S. 489 (1996).  

The Executive Committee is a committee of the Board of Directors of Monsanto 

authorized by the entire Board to amend the Monsanto Company Salaried 

Employees’ Pension Plan.  [R 168-11 at MON 003231].   

7. Response To Defendants’ Statute Of Limitations Argument. 

 Defendants argue the Court should grant summary judgment on Plaintiff’s 

breach of fiduciary duty claim because Section 413 demands it.  The original 

breach began with closing the Sand Mountain plant to deny nonexempt participants 

their accruing and accrued benefits and continued by design up to today.  

Defendants’ acts against the vested interest of non-HCE participants are all 

continuing acts of the original breach that began with the closing of the Sand 

Mountain plant and the plan administrator’s failure to report and disclose non-HCE 

participants with a deferred vested benefit.  [R 167-4; 167-5; 167-6; 167-9; 174].   

8. Plaintiff’s Response To Defendants’ Second Motion For Summary 
Judgment. 

 
The Court should not permit defendants to fraudulently take Plaintiff’s 

property held in trust.  Defendants included nonexempt “hourly workers” in the 

salaried pension plan to obtain approval of the plan as a tax qualified plan under 

the IRC, adjusted participants’ termination dates to reflect vesting to gain approval 

of the amendment, and then twenty plus years later deny participants’ their rightful 

property based on the amendment adopted after-the-fact.  Defendants have 
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disowned their nonexempt employees for the benefit of the shareholders, officers, 

and other highly compensated employees.  This is corporate welfare abuse. 

CONCLUSION 

 The evidence presented in support of Plaintiff’s motion for summary 

judgment proves defendants took multiple steps to intentionally interfere with 

Plaintiff and other participants’ rights under ERISA after promising them a 

deferred vested benefit under the 1976 Plan when closing the Sand Mountain plant 

in 1981. Id.  After defendants failed to report vested participants and failed to 

provide annual benefit statements over a twenty seven year period eligibility was 

revisited to intentionally cause forfeiture of otherwise nonforfeitable accrued 

benefits belonging to nonexempt unreported participants without defendants 

identifying the reason for the denial.  [R 101 at 343: L 16 to L 18; R 101 at 353:L 

13 to 354: L 2].   Defendants in defense of their actions have altered records and 

engaged in deceit, fraud, and misrepresentation to achieve a taking of property 

entrusted to their care.  [R 167-169, 174].  Plaintiff urges the Court to scrutinize 

defendants’ representations in terms of the relevant plan documents, and in terms 

of ERISA and the IRC’s rigid statutory requirements for adopting and amending 

written plans, and in terms of the evidence properly before the Court.  ERISA has 

strict limitations on when modifications and changes can be applied especially 
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when such changes cause forfeiture of accrued benefits.  Summary judgment for 

the defendants is not proper.      

         Respectfully submitted,  

/s/ Elisa Smith Rives 
_________________  

 Elisa Smith Rives  
     Attorney for plaintiff  

Wendell F. Gilley 
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